NO. 69613-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION ONE**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

REC* D King County Prosecutor Appellate Unit

MARK MECHAM,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Palmer Robinson, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

1.	Procedural Facts
	2.	Substantive Facts
C.	AI	RGUMENT 9
	1.	MECHAM WAS UNFAIRLY PENALIZED FOR EXERCISING HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO REFUSE CONSENT TO A WARRANTLESS SEARCH 9
		a. Field Sobriety Testing Is a Search Under the Fourth Amendment and Under Article I, Section 7 of Washington's Constitution
		i. Field Sobriety Tests Are a Search Under Article I, Section 7 Because They Reveal a Person's Private Affairs
		ii. Field Sobriety Tests Are a Search Under the Fourth Amendment Because They Physically Intrude on the Person to Reveal Private Information
		b. Mecham Had a Constitutional Right to Refuse Consent 18
		c. The Comments on Mecham's Refusal of Consent to Field Sobriety Testing Improperly Penalized Him for Exercising a Constitutional Right. 20
	2.	THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY IT HAD A "DUTY TO RETURN A VERDICT OF GUILTY." 22

		TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT D)
		Page
	a.	The "Duty to Convict" Instruction Violates the Right to a Jury Trial Under the United States Constitution 23
	b.	Under a Gunwall Analysis, the Duty to Convict Instruction Violates the Greater Protection Afforded the Jury Trial Right by the Washington Constitution
		i. <u>Textual Language and Differences from Federal</u> <u>Constitutional Provisions</u>
		ii. State Constitutional and Common Law History 26
		iii. Preexisting State Law
		iv. <u>Differences in Federal and State Constitutions'</u> Structure 28
		v. Matters of Particular State Intrests or Local Concern. 28
	c.	A Jury Should Not Be Instructed It Has a Duty to Convict Because No Such Duty Exists
	d.	Meggyesy Was Wrongly Decided Because It Focused on the Proposed Remedy Rather than the Error
3.	HE MI	IE CERTIFICATION OF MAILING IS TESTIMONIAL EARSAY AND ITS ADMISSION VIOLATED ECHAM'S RIGHT TO CONFRONT THE WITNESSES GAINST HIM
D. <u>CC</u>	NC	<u>LUSION</u> 40

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
City of College Place v. Staudenmaier 110 Wn. App. 84143 P.3d 43 (2002)
<u>City of Pasco v. Mace</u> 98 Wn.2d 87, 653 P.2d 618 (1982)
<u>City of Redmond v. Moore</u> 151 Wn.2d 664, 91 P.3d 875 (2004)
<u>City of Seattle v. McCready</u> 123 Wn.2d 260, 868 P.2d 134 (1994)
<u>City of Seattle v. Mesiani</u> 110 Wn.2d 454, 755 P.2d 775 (1988)
<u>City of Seattle v. Personeus</u> 63 Wn. App. 461, 819 P.2d 821 (1991)
<u>City of Seattle v. Stalsbroten</u> 138 Wn.2d 227, 978 P.2d 1059 (1999)
Hartigan v. Territory 1 Wash. Terr. 447 (1874). 27
<u>Heinemann v. Whitman County Dist. Court</u> 105 Wn.2d 796, 718 P.2d 789 (1986)
<u>Leonard v. Territory</u> 2 Wash. Terr. 381, 7 Pac. 872 (1885)
Robinson v. City of Seattle 102 Wn. App. 795, 10 P.3d 452 (2000)
Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp. 112 Wn 2d 636, 771 P.2d 711 (1989)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page State v. Athan State v. Bennett State v. Black State v. Boland State v. Burke State v. Carlson State v. Dolson State v. Ferrier State v. Gauthier State v. Gibbons State v. Green State v. Gunwall State v. Jackson

•

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
<u>State v. Jasper</u> 174 Wn.2d 96, 271 P.3d 876 (2012)
<u>State v. Jones</u> 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010)
<u>State v. Kinzy</u> 141 Wn.2d 373, 5 P.3d 668 (2000)
<u>State v. McKinney</u> 148 Wn.2d 20, 60 P.3d 46 (2002)
<u>State v. Meggyesy</u> 90 Wn. App. 693, 958 P. 2d 319 rev. denied, 136 Wn.2d 1028 (1998) abrogated on other grounds by State v. Recuenco 154 Wn.2d 156, 110 P.3d 188 (2005)
<u>State v. Meneese</u> 174 Wn.2d 937, 282 P.3d 83 (2012)
<u>State v. Primrose</u> 32 Wn. App. 1, 645 P.2d 714 (1982)
<u>State v. Russell</u> 125 Wn.2d 24, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) <u>cert</u> . <u>denied</u> , 514 U.S. 1129 (1995)
<u>State v. Salazar</u> 59 Wn. App. 202, 796 P.2d 773 (1990)
<u>State v. Snapp</u> 174 Wn.2d 177, 275 P.3d 289 (2012)
<u>State v. Surge</u> 160 Wn.2d 65, 156 P.3d 208 (2007)
<u>State v. Young</u> 123 Wn.2d 173, 867 P.2d 593 (1994)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
FEDERAL CASES
<u>Arizona v. Hicks</u> 480 U.S. 321, 107 S. Ct. 1149, 94 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1987)
<u>Crawford v. Washington</u> 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004) 35, 36, 37, 38, 39
<u>Duncan v. Louisiana</u> 391 U.S. 145, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 20 L. Ed. 2d 491 (1968)
<u>Florida v. Jardines</u> U.S, 133 S. Ct. 1409, 1417, L. Ed. 2d (2013) 16, 17, 18
<u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u> 372 U.S. 335, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963)
Illinois v. Rodriguez 497 U.S. 177, 110 S. Ct. 2793, 111 L. Ed. 2d 148 (1990)
<u>Jackson v. Virginia</u> 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)
<u>Katz v. United States</u> 389 U.S. 347, 88 S. Ct. 507, 19 L. Ed. 2d 576 (1967)
<u>Kyllo v. United States</u> 533 U.S. 27, 121 S. Ct. 2038, 150 L. Ed. 2d 94 (2001)
<u>Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts</u> 557 U.S. 305, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L.Ed.2d 314 (2009)
<u>Missouri v. McNeely</u> U.S, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1563, L. Ed. 2d (2013) 20
Neder v. United States 527 U.S. 1, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page Schneckloth v. Bustamante Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Assn. United States v. Atkinson United States v. Bejar-Matrecios United States v. Garaway United States v. Gaudin United States v. Jones United States v. Moylan United States v. Powell Williams v. Illinois OTHER JURISDICTIONS Ackerman v. State Blasi v. State

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page Hulse v. State, Dep't of Justice, Motor Vehicle Div. People v. Carlson State v. Campbell State v. Nagel RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES 11A Washington Practice: Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal, Alschuler & Deiss A Brief History of the Criminal Jury in the United States Bushell's Case The Papers of Thomas Jefferson

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Robert F. Utter
Freedom and Diversity in a Federal System: Perspectives on State Constitutions and the Washington Declaration of Rights 7 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. 491 (1984)
Utter & Pitler Presenting a State Constitutional Argument: Comment on Theory and Technique, 20 Ind. L. Rev. 637 (1987)
Wigmore A Program for the Trial of a Jury 12 Am. Jud. Soc. 166 (1929)
RCW 46.20.308
U.S. Const. amend. IV
U.S. Const. amend. V
U. S. Const. amend. VI
U.S. Const. amend. VII
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
U.S. Const. art. 3, § 2
U.S. Const. art. 3, § 3
Wash. Const. art. I, § 7
Wash. Const. art. I, § 9
Wash. Const. art. I, § 21
Wash. Const. art. I, § 22
Wash. Const. art. IV, § 16

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred by denying appellant's motion to suppress and admitting evidence appellant invoked his constitutional right to refuse consent to field sobriety testing.
- The trial court erred by refusing to give appellant's proposed jury instruction that evidence of refusal to participate in field sobriety testing could not be considered as evidence of guilt.
- 3. The trial court erred by admitting evidence appellant asserted his constitutional right to refuse the officer entry into his car without a warrant and permitting the State to rely on that assertion as evidence of guilt.
- 4. The trial court erred in instructing the jury it had a "duty to convict" if it found all the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 105 (Instruction 14).
- The trial court violated appellant's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him when it admitted Exhibit 17, which included a sworn statement certifying the order revoking his driver's license was mailed to his address.

¹ This Court rejected the argument raised here in <u>State v. Meggyesy</u>, 90 Wn. App. 693, 958 P. 2d 319, <u>rev. denied</u>, 136 Wn.2d 1028 (1998), <u>abrogated on other grounds by State v. Recuenco</u>, 154 Wn.2d 156, 110 P.3d 188 (2005). Counsel respectfully contends <u>Meggyesy</u> was incorrectly decided. Because Mecham must include a <u>Gunwall</u> analysis or risk waiver of the issue, the <u>Meggyesy</u> argument is included in its entirety.

- The trial court erred in finding appellant's license had been revoked in the absence of admissible evidence that notice was provided. CP 148 (Finding of Fact 6).
- 7. The trial court erred in finding appellant guilty of driving while license suspended/revoked in the first degree.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. A criminal defendant may not be penalized for exercising the right to refuse consent to a search by having that refusal used as evidence of guilt at trial. The trial court admitted evidence appellant declined voluntary field sobriety testing, and the prosecutor argued that decision was evidence of guilt. The court also admitted evidence appellant declined the officer's offer to secure his car. Did the use of this refusal evidence at trial violate appellant's constitutional right to refuse consent to a search under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 7 of Washington's constitution?
- 2. In a criminal trial, does a "to-convict" instruction violate the right to a jury trial under the state and federal Constitutions when it informs the jury it has a duty to return a verdict of guilty if it finds the elements have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt?
- The certification of mailing in Exhibit 17 was prepared solely in anticipation of litigation. Did the trial court err in determining it

was not testimonial hearsay and its admission did not violate appellant's right to confront the witnesses against him?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

The King County prosecutor charged appellant Mark Mecham with one count of felony driving under the influence of intoxicating liquor (DUI), one count of driving while license suspended/revoked in the first degree, and one count of driving in violation of the ignition interlock device requirement. CP 45.

After the court denied Mecham's motion to bifurcate the trial to prevent the jury hearing about his prior DUI convictions, Mecham stipulated he had previously been convicted of DUI on four occasions. 1RP² 24; CP 49. The court granted Mecham's motion for a bench trial on driving while license suspended/revoked and violating the ignition interlock device requirement. 1RP 105-07, 119.

The court denied repeated defense motions to suppress Mecham's refusal to engage in field sobriety testing.³ 1RP 92; 2RP 6-11, 39-45. The

 $^{^2}$ There are five volumes of Verbatim Report of Proceedings referenced as follows: 1RP - Oct. 23, 24, 2012; 2RP - Oct. 25, 29, 2012; 3RP - Oct. 30, 2012; 4RP - Oct. 31, 2012; 5RP - Nov. 1, 8, 19, 2012.

³ Counsel initially moved to suppress Mecham's refusal to engage in field sobriety testing under the Fifth Amendment privilege against coerced self-incrimination. CP 25-26; 1RP 39-40. The trial court's written findings of fact and conclusions of law address only this argument. CP 143-46. However, in a motion to reconsider, counsel also argued

court also rejected defense counsel's proposed instruction that Mecham's refusal could not be used as evidence of guilt. 4RP 95-98; CP 69. The court ruled that even if the field sobriety test amounts to a search, it was justified by probable cause. 2RP 45.

The court also declined to give the defense proposed "to-convict" instruction on the elements of felony DUI, which alters the pattern instruction to remove the "duty to convict" language, replacing it with language stating, "In order to return a verdict of guilty, you must unanimously find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt." 4RP 82-85, 89; CP 71.

The jury found Mecham guilty of felony DUI, and the court found him guilty of driving while license suspended/revoked in the first degree and violating the ignition interlock device requirement. CP 87, 135. CP 147-49. The court imposed a standard range sentence of 29 months on the DUI charge, to be served consecutively with consecutive 364-day sentences on the two misdemeanors for a total of 53 months confinement. CP 130, 135. Notice of appeal was timely filed. CP 114.

admission of the refusal violated Mecham's privacy rights under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 7 of Washington's constitution. CP 51-55; 2RP 39-44. The court rejected this argument in an oral ruling without entering a corresponding written conclusion of law. 2RP 45; CP 143-46.

2. Substantive Facts

Mecham was pulled over in Bellevue after officer Scott Campbell ran a random license check on his car and noticed an outstanding warrant. 1RP 49. Campbell testified Mecham's driving was entirely safe and he committed no infraction. 3RP 15-16. During the process of arresting Mecham, Campbell noticed the odor of intoxicants on his breath. 3RP 20. Campbell also testified Mecham's movements were sluggish, his speech was slurred and repetitive, and he appeared intoxicated. 3RP 20.

Campbell then requested Mecham perform voluntary field sobriety tests, namely, the horizontal gaze nystagmus looking for involuntary jerking of the eye, the one-leg stand, and the turn and walk test, in order to gauge Mecham's ability to listen, follow directions, and perform simple tasks involving balance. 3RP 21-22. Campbell testified these tests are a useful tool in investigating DUI. 3RP 22. Mecham did not perform the tests. 3RP 21.

Campbell asked if Mecham wanted the officer to secure his car for him. 3RP 23. Campbell noted the doors were unlocked and Mecham's keys were in the ignition. 3RP 23. Mecham told Campbell just to shut the doors, but not to go in his car. 3RP 23. When Campbell approached to shut the doors, he noticed an open beer can with a straw in it behind the passenger seat. 3RP 23.

Campbell brought Mecham to the police station, read him the implied consent warnings, and requested he submit to a breath test for alcohol. 3RP 27-29. Mecham was advised he had the right to refuse, but if he refused, his license would be suspended and his refusal could be used against him in a criminal trial. 3RP 29-31. Campbell asked Mecham to take the breath test three times. 3RP 31-32. Mecham once did not answer and twice stated simply that his attorney advised him not to answer any more questions. 3RP 32, 99.

Officer Darrell Moore assisted Campbell by drafting an application for a search warrant to take Mecham's blood. 3RP 33. Moore also testified Mecham appeared intoxicated based on the odor of intoxicants, slurred speech, and glazed, bloodshot eyes. 4RP 16. While Moore sat near Mecham working on the warrant, he heard Mecham comment that Campbell, "must love his job." 4RP 16-17.

Officer Moore also commented on Mecham's refusal to perform the field sobriety tests. He testified, "I would always like to see someone take sobriety tests, see what they're going to perform like so I have a better picture of . . . what could be happening at the scene." 4RP 32-33. He explained, "When you look at a situation where someone refuses a sobriety test, that person has limited my ability to obtain more evidence." 4RP 32.

Debra McArthur drew Mecham's blood at Overlake Hospital approximately three hours after his arrest. 3RP 124, 134. She did not smell intoxicants or alcohol. 3RP 136-37. Nor did she notice bloodshot or watery eyes. 3RP 138. She noticed no signs of impairment whatsoever. 3RP 135-36. Both McArthur and Moore testified Mecham was at first clearly unhappy about the blood test and angry at the officers, but his mood improved with the nurse's gentle ribbing. 3RP 135, 145; 4RP 66. Moore testified, based on the change in Mecham's demeanor that "he was impaired and limiting my ability to take sobriety tests." 4RP 39.

The forensic toxicologist testified Mecham's blood ethanol content was .050 grams per 100 milliliters. 5RP 19. Taking into account the margin of error, this could have been as low as .04. 5RP 58. She testified that, while alcohol affects people differently, most people cannot safely drive with a blood alcohol content of .05. 5RP 25-27. She also testified blood alcohol content continues to increase for roughly half an hour after consumption stops. 5RP 28-29. To give the person the benefit of the doubt, she does not extrapolate backwards until two hours have passed. 3RP 35. After that time, alcohol is metabolized or burned off at a rate of roughly .015 g/100 ml per hour. 5RP 30. The rate varies by individual, between a high rate of .03 g/100 ml per hour and a low rate of .01 g/100 ml per hour. 5RP 30.

Mecham's blood was taken roughly three hours after he was arrested. 3RP 35. The toxicologist, therefore, extrapolated backwards for one hour. 5RP 33. Taking the highest rate of burn off, she testified Mecham's blood alcohol level could have been as high as .08. 5RP 35. Taking the low end of the spectrum, it could have been as low as .065. 5RP 35.

The State argued in closing that Mecham was impaired based on the officers' testimony about slurred speech, sluggish movements, and the odor of intoxicants and his blood alcohol content. 5RP 88. The State also argued Mecham's refusal to participate in field sobriety testing was an attempt to frustrate and delay the investigation. 5RP 84. Repeatedly, both in the initial closing argument and again in rebuttal, the prosecutor argued Mecham refused the sobriety tests because he knew they would reveal his guilt. 5RP 84, 89, 113, 115.

At the subsequent bench trial, the court admitted exhibit 17, the order revoking Mecham's driver's license. 5RP 135. The court also heard testimony from the Department of Licensing custodian of records. 5RP 121. At the bottom of the revocation order is a statement, certified under penalty of perjury, that a copy of the order was mailed to Mecham at his address of record. Ex. 17. The signer of this certification did not testify. Mecham objected to exhibit 17 on the grounds that he had a right to confront this person. 5RP 134-35. The court ruled his right to confrontation was limited

to the records custodian and did not include the person who certified having mailed the copy. 5RP 135.

C. ARGUMENT

1. MECHAM WAS UNFAIRLY PENALIZED FOR EXERCISING HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO REFUSE CONSENT TO A WARRANTLESS SEARCH.

Evidence that an individual has refused consent to a warrantless search may not be admitted as evidence of guilt without violating both the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 7 of Washington's constitution.

State v. Gauthier, _____ Wn. App. _____, 298 P.3d 126, 130-32 (2013); see also State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 725, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). Mecham was asked to perform field sobriety tests, but declined, as was his right. 3RP 21-22; City of Seattle v. Personeus, 63 Wn. App. 461, 465-66, 819 P.2d 821 (1991). The trial court denied his motion to suppress and rejected his proposed jury instruction limiting the jury's consideration of his refusal. 1RP 92; 2RP 6-11, 39-45; 4RP 95-98; CP 69. The court also admitted evidence Mecham declined Campell's offer to secure his car and told him not to go in his car. 3 RP 23. His refusals were then used as evidence of guilt at trial, in violation of the constitutional privacy protections of our state

⁴ The statute implying consent to chemical testing for breath or blood alcohol content does not extend to field sobriety testing. RCW 46.20.308.

⁵ Mecham's objections to the statements about securing his car did not raise the Fourth Amendment or Article I, section 7. 1RP 90. However, this argument can be raised for the first time on appeal as manifest constitutional error. RAP 2.5(a)(3); <u>Gauthier</u>, Wn. App. at _____, 298 P.3d at 132.

and federal constitutions. 5RP 84, 89, 113, 115; <u>Gauthier</u>, ____ Wn. App. at ____, 298 P.3d at 130-32. This violation of Mecham's constitutional rights requires reversal.

The trial court's conclusions of law and its application of law to the facts in ruling on a suppression motion are reviewed de novo. State v. Meneese, 174 Wn.2d 937, 942, 282 P.3d 83 (2012). The trial court erred in denying the suppression motion because the field sobriety tests are a search, a state invasion of constitutionally protected privacy. Even assuming the existence of both probable cause and an exception to the warrant requirement, Mecham had a constitutional right to refuse voluntary consent to a search. Permitting the State to use refusal of consent as evidence of guilt violated his constitutional privacy rights and taints all supposedly consensual searches as coerced by the threat of incrimination.

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