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

the time the state constitution was adopted, but there are no cases 

predating the constitution that prohibit the language Mecham challenges. 

Id. 

Mecham argues that language in Leonard v. Territory, 2 Wash. 

Terr. 381, 7 P. 872 (1885), proves that preconstitutional courts instructed 

juries that they may convict if the elements were proven beyond a 

reasonable doubt, not that they must. The Meggyesy court properly 

rejected this argument. Leonard was convicted of murder and sentenced 

to death. He challenged a great number of the jury instructions provided 

in his case on a variety of grounds-none of which, the Meggyesy court 

noted, involved the legal challenge made here. Further, all of the jury 

instructions challenged in Leonard were general instructions dealing with 

the burden of proof and defenses, and every single instruction addressed in 

the opinion was found to misstate the law. It is abundantly clear from the 

opinion that the instructions were crafted by the trial court and were not a 

type of standard jury instruction used in other cases, such as the pattern 

instruction at issue here. Thus, there is nothing in Leonard, or anything 
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else Mecham cites herein, that demonstrates the actual standard practice at 

the time regarding the issue raised here. 

Nor does Mecham address State v. Wilson, 9 Wash. 16,36 P. 967 

(1894), discussed in Meggyesy. Wilson complained of an instruction that 

stated that if the jury found the elements of the crime, the jury "must" find 

the defendant guilty. Wilson, 9 Wash. at 21. The Supreme Court 

affirmed, stating that taking all the language in context, "it clearly appears 

that all the court intended to say was that, if they found from the evidence 

that all the acts necessary to constitute the crime had been committed by 

the defendant, the law made it their duty to find him guilty." rd. 

Fifth, the differences in the structures of the federal and state 

constitutions support an independent analysis in every case. Meggyesy, 

90 Wn. App. at 703. The U.S. Constitution is a grant of limited power to 

the federal government, while the state constitution limits the otherwise 

plenary power of the state. State v. Ortiz, 119 Wn.2d 294, 303, 831 P.2d 

1060 (1992). However, analysis of this factor does not shed any light on 

whether the state constitution is more protective than the federal 

constitution except in the most general sense. rd. 

Sixth, while criminal law is generally a matter of state and local 

concern, there is nothing about this concern that would suggest that the 

right to a jury trial in Washington forbids instructing the jury that it has a 
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duty to convict once it has found every element proven beyond a 

reasonable doubt. Compare id. Further, Mecham has not shown any 

particular local or state concern regarding the propriety of the challenged 

instruction. Meggyesy, 90 Wn. App. at 703. 

Accordingly, there is no support for the contention that either the 

federal or state constitutional right to a jury trial prohibit the instruction 

challenged here. Moreover, the challenged instruction was correct. Jury 

instructions are sufficient if they are not misleading, permit the parties to 

argue their theories of the case, and correctly inform the jury of the 

applicable law. Id. at 698. As the Meggyesy court observed in examining 

nearly identical language, the instruction appropriately directed the jury to 

consider the evidence and to determine whether the State had proven each 

element of the offenses beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 699. Further, 

this instruction does not invade the province of the jury, direct a verdict of 

guilty, or express an opinion as to the accused's guilt. Id. 

Indeed, the instruction at issue is consistent with the other 

instructions provided to the jury, none of which Mecham challenges on 

appeal. For instance, the jury was instructed it must decide the facts, 

accept the law as provided by the court, then apply the law to the facts and 

"in this way decide the case." CP 89. It was also instructed that its 

decisions "must be made solely upon the evidence presented," and that it 
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could not render a decision based "on sympathy, prejudice, or personal 

preference." CP 89, 91. The direction that the jury has a duty to convict if 

it finds the elements proven beyond a reasonable doubt is entirely 

consistent with the directions to decide the case on the law and evidence, 

not on sympathy, prejudice, or personal preference. 

Finally, while a jury may have the power to acquit against the 

evidence, a power which is inherent in a general verdict, id. at 700, that 

power "is not an applicable law to be applied" in a felony driving under 

the influence case. State v. Brown, 130 Wn. App. 767,771,124 P.3d 663 

(2005). 

In short, there is no right to jury nullification. The fact that a jury 

has power to nullify, and that courts have no power to coerce a jury into a 

particular verdict-or even to follow the law--does not mean that an 

instruction that the jury has a duty to return a verdict of guilty if it finds 

that the State has proven every element of the crime beyond a reasonable 

doubt is incorrect, or violates the constitutional right to a jury trial. 

Mecham's arguments to the contrary should be rejected. 
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3. THE TRIAL COURT'S ADMISSION OF EXHIBIT 17 
INTO EVIDENCE DID NOT VIOLATE MECHAM'S 
CONFRONTATION RIGHTS BECAUSE IT WAS A 
NON-TESTIMONIAL BUSINESS RECORD. 

Mecham complains that his confrontation rights were violated by 

the admission of Exhibit 17, an order of the Department of Licensing 

revoking his Washington driver's license. Specifically, he claims that the 

certification of mailing included on the order was testimonial, and that he 

had the right to confront the person who prepared it. But the certification 

of mailing was prepared in the ordinary course of business in order to 

comply with the Department's statutory obligations. And, it was prepared 

at the time of the mailing, months before Mecham committed his crime, so 

it was not prepared for the purpose of litigation. Accordingly, the 

certification was not testimonial. Even if it were, however, the 

certification was not relevant to any element of the crime of Driving While 

License Revoked in the First Degree. As such, its admission, if error, was 

harmless. His conviction should be affirmed. 

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to confront the 

witnesses against him. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; WASH. CONST. art. 1, 

§ 22. This right bars the admission into evidence of testimonial statements 

of a witness who does not appear at trial unless he is unavailable and the 
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defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine him. Crawford v. 

Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 59, 68,124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 

(2004). Confrontation clause challenges to the admission of evidence are 

reviewed de novo. State v. Sandoval, 137 Wn. App. 532, 537, 154 P.3d 

271 (2007). 

Testimonial statements, while not defined by Crawford, include 

prior testimony-such as at a preliminary hearing or before a grand jury

and police interrogations. Id. at 68. Documents created solely for an 

evidentiary purpose, such as laboratory reports of forensic examinations 

made to aid a police investigation, are likewise testimonial. Melendez

Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 321-22, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed. 

2d 314 (2009). 

Business records, however, are not testimonial, because they are 

created for the administration of an entity's affairs rather than for the 

purpose of establishing some fact at a trial. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 56; 

Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 324. Further, statements not offered for the 

truth of the matter asserted do not implicate the Confrontation Clause. 

Williams v. Illinois, _ U.S. _, 132 S. Ct. 2221, 2227-28, 183 L. Ed. 2d 

89 (2012). 

Here, Mecham claims that the certification of mailing contained in 

the Order of Revocation is testimonial. At trial, he objected specifically to 
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that portion of the document being admitted; in the alternative, he asked 

for it to be redacted. The portion at issue reads: 

Ex. 17. 

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the state 
of Washington that I caused to be placed in a U.S. Postal 
Service mail box, a true and accurate copy of this document 
to the person named herein at the address shown which is 
the last address of record. Postage prepaid on September 
14,2010 in Olympia, Washington. 
Elizabeth A. L[illegible] 
Agent for the Department of Licensing 

The trial court did not err in overruling Mecham's objection to the 

admission of the document in its entirety, because the portion of the 

document that Mecham challenges is not testimonial evidence. Rather, it 

is a business record. The document was admitted as a business record, 

and Mecham makes no challenge to the admission into evidence of the 

remainder of the document. Nor could he; Qaasim's testimony 

definitively established that Exhibit 17 was kept in the ordinary course of 

business by the Department of Licensing. 5RP 120-34. 

Moreover, the certification of mailing is required by statute. 

RCW 46.20.245(1) directs the Department of Licensing to give notice to a 

person whose driving privilege is to be revoked either by personal service 

or through the United States mail, postage prepaid. Further, the time at 

which the proposed revocation is to commence is prescribed by reference 

- 33 -
1308-16 Mecham COA 



to the date on which the revocation notice is deposited in the mail. 

RCW 46.20.245(1); see also RCW 46.65.065 (adding additional 

requirements with respect to habitual traffic offenders). Thus, the 

language Mecham complains of is merely a business record memorializing 

that the Department did what the Department is required by statute to do. 

Compare State v. Phillips, 94 Wn. App. 829,974 P.2d 1245 (1999) 

(holding pre-Crawford that a proof of service of a domestic violence order 

is admissible as a public record). 

Further, Qaasim testified that Exhibit 17 was created at or near the 

time of the revocation, that is, in September of2010. Ex. 17; 5RP 133. 

Mecham did not drive in violation of the revocation-he did not commit 

the crime at issue-until May 15,2011. 3RP 14. Accordingly, the 

document was not created for the purposes of prosecution, because the 

Department did not and could not know, at the time of the document's 

creation, that Mecham would violate the order. Compare Williams, 132 

S. Ct. at 2243 (holding that a DNA report prepared to identify an unknown 

rapist, rather than to use as evidence against a particular person at trial, is 

not testimonial). As no crime had yet been committed, the document 

could not have been prepared for testimonial purposes. 
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Even if the portion of the document to which Mecham objected is 

testimonial, however, its admission into evidence was harmless. Evidence 

admitted in violation of the Confrontation Clause may nonetheless be 

harmless error. State v. Mares, 160 Wn. App. 558, 562, 248 P.3d 140 

(2011). A constitutional error is harmless if the State proves beyond a 

reasonable doubt that any reasonable factfinder would have reached the 

same result in the absence of the error. Id. Here, any error was harmless 

for two reasons. 

First, the evidence objected to-the portion of the document 

containing the certificate of mailing-was irrelevant to the elements of the 

crime. The elements of the crime of Driving While License Suspended or 

Revoked in the First Degree, as charged in this case, are that the defendant 

was driving in Washington, that his privilege to drive was revoked at the 

time of the driving, and that the revocation was based on the defendant's 

status as a habitual traffic offender. RCW 46.20.342(1)(a); CP 45-46; 

see also State v. Jasper, 158 Wn. App. 518, 536, 245 P.3d 228, 237 

(2010), aff d, 174 Wn.2d 96 (2012). The fact that the Order of 

Revocation, Exhibit 17, was mailed to Mecham on a particular date was 

orthogonal to the question of whether his license was revoked on a later 
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date. 13 Because the certificate of mailing was wholly irrelevant to the 

question of whether Mecham's privilege to drive was revoked due to his 

being a habitual offender as of May 15,2011, its admission could have no 

effect on the outcome of the trial. 14 

Second, the other evidence admitted was overwhelming and 

uncontested. Specifically, Qaasim testified that he reviewed Mecham's 

driving records, that Mecham was a habitual traffic offender, that an order 

revoking Mecham's driving privilege was generated on or about 

I3 Citing State v. Dolson, 138 Wn.2d 773, 777, 982 P.2d 100 (1999), superseded by 
statute on other grounds by Laws of 1999, ch. 6, § 24, Mecham contends that "the State 
must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the revocation complied with due process." 
Brief of Appellant at 38. He is correct insofar that, if challenged, the State must show 
that a driver was afforded notice and an opportunity to be heard before any suspension or 
revocation became effective. State v. Smith, 144 Wn.2d 665,677,30 P.3d 1245 (2001), 
superseded by statute on other grounds by Laws of 2002, ch. 107, § 1. But Dolson does 
not stand for the proposition that the State must prove to the trier of fact that the Order of 
Revocation was mailed to the driver whose privilege to drive is affected, nor does Dolson 
mention the standard of proof. Rather, a defendant may raise a legal challenge to a 
revocation on the grounds of a due process violation, and the State then bears the burden 
of proving to the court that the defendant was afforded due process. See,~, Smith, 144 
Wn.2d at 677-78 & n.4; State v. Storhoff, 133 Wn.2d 523, 527-28, 946 P.2d 783 (1997); 
see also State v. Miller, 156 Wn.2d 23, 31, 123 P.3d 827 (2005) (holding that the validity 
of a court order is a legal question for the court, not an element of the crime, in a 
prosecution for violation of a court order). Indeed, Mecham made exactly this due 
process challenge during pretrial hearings, I RP 93-105, and he does not assign error to 
the trial court's failure to enter a finding that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt 
as an element of the crime the fact that the revocation complied with due process. 
CP 147-49. 

The procedure of attacking the revocation in a pretrial hearing comports with the 
principle that constitutional questions, such as whether due process has been satisfied, is 
a question of law, not fact. ~,City of Redmond v. Moore, 151 Wn.2d 664, 668, 91 
P.3d 875 (2004) ("Constitutional challenges are questions of law and are also reviewed 
de novo."). Because the validity of Mecham's license revocation was a preliminary legal 
determination, the Confrontation Clause does not apply. State v. Fortun-Cebada, 158 
Wn. App. 158, 172-73,241 P.3d 800 (2010) (citing numerous Supreme Court cases). 

14 There is no claim-nor could there be---that the admitted evidence was unfairly 
prejudicial. 
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September 14, 2010, and that the revocation went into effect on October 

29,2010. 5RP 127, 130, 132-33. Further, the revocation was effective 

until August 11,2013, at the earliest, and was in effect on May 15,2011. 

5RP 134. The portion of Exhibit 17 to which Mecham did not object was 

to similar effect. Additionally, Officer Campbell testified without 

objection that Mecham's license was suspended in the first degree, and 

Mecham stipulated to the police reports contained in Exhibit 3 as 

additional evidence for the court to consider. lRP 105-07, 135-42; 3RP 9, 

104-05. Exhibit 3 contained information that Mecham's license was 

suspended in the first degree. Ex. 3 at 6. Finally, during closing 

argument, Mecham argued that the State had failed to prove identity, that 

is, that Qaasim's testimony and Exhibit 17 were not proven to relate to 

Mecham. He did not argue in closing, as he had during pretrial hearings, 

that the revocation was in any way defective. 

Accordingly, even if the certificate of mailing contained in 

Exhibit 17 was testimonial, its admission into evidence was harmless. 

Mecham's conviction for Driving While License Revoked in the First 

Degree should be affirmed. 
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D. CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, Mecham's convictions for Felony 

Driving Under the Influence and Driving While License Suspended in the 

First Degree should be affirmed.